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Statement of the Proceedi ngs

These consol i dated proceedi ngs concern a civil penalty
proceeding initiated by MSHA agai nst the respondent pursuant to
section 110(a) of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977,
seeking a civil penalty assessnment for an alleged violation of
mandat ory safety standard 30 C.F.R 075.316, as stated in a
section 104(a) Citation No. 2255733, with speci al
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"significant and substantial" (S & S) findings, issued by an NM5SHA
i nspector on January 16, 1985. The citation was subsequently

nodi fied by the inspector on January 17, 1986, to a section
104(d)(2) Order No. 2255733A01. The contest was filed by the
contestant to challenge the legality of the order

The cases were consolidated for hearing, and the parties
appeared and participated fully therein. Geenwich filed a
post hearing brief, but MSHA did not. However, | have considered
its oral argunents made during the hearing

| ssues

The issues presented are whether or not the condition or
practice cited by the inspector constitutes a violation of the
cited mandatory safety standard, whether the alleged violation
was "significant and substantial," and whether it constitutes an
"unwarrantable failure"” by the contestant to conply with the
requi renents of the standard in question. Additional issues
rai sed by the parties are identified and di sposed of in the
course of these decisions, including an appropriate civil penalty
assessnment for the violation in question

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions
1. The Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, P.L.
95A165, 30 U.S.C. 801 et seq.

2. Commission Rules, 29 C.F.R [2700.1 et seq.
Sti pul ations

1. The G eenwich No. 1 Mne is owed and operated by the
respondent/cont estant Greenwi ch Collieries.

2. Geenwich Collieries and the No. 1 Mne are subject to
the Act.

3. The presiding adm nistrative |aw judge has jurisdiction
to hear and deci de these cases.

4. The subject order issued in these proceedi ngs was
properly served on a representative of Geenwich Collieries and
may be admitted to establish its issuance and servi ce.

5. Payment of the assessed civil penalty will not adversely
af fect the respondent/contestant's ability to continue in
busi ness.
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6. The respondent/contestant's annual coal production is
approximately two mllion tons. Mne production for the No. 1
M ne is approximately 877,000 tons annually. Geenwich Collieries
is a nmediumto-|arge mne operator

7. The respondent/cont estant exhibited ordinary good faith
intinely abating the cited condition or practice.

8. Respondent/contestant's history of prior paid civil
penal ty assessnments consists of 245 paid assessnents for the
first 9 nonths of 1985, 214 in 1984, and 155 in 1983.

9. The 104(d) "chain" is properly established in that no
i ntervening "clean" mne inspections took place inmedi ately
precedi ng the issuance of the subject contested section 104(d)(2)
order.

MSHA' s Testi nony and Evi dence

MSHA | nspector Samuel Brunatti stated that he is a
ventil ation specialist, and he testified as to his experience and
training. He confirned that he issued a section 104(a) G tation
No. 2255733, on January 16, 1985, but that the conditions cited
were previously observed by himwhen he was at the mine on
January 10, 1985. He expl ained that his supervisor instructed him
to go to the DA9 area of the mine during the nidnightAt oA8: 00
a.m shift on January 10, to exam ne the area. The m ne had
experienced a | arge nethane accunul ati on and mners were
wi t hdrawn when he arrived at the mne

M. Brunatti identified exhibit GA2, as a copy of a portion
of the mne map depicting the area in question and he confirnmed
that he made notations on the map on January 10, depicting the
direction of air flow, and his air and met hane readi ngs. He
confirmed that he determ ned the direction of air flow by neans
of a snoke test and observation (Tr. 17A23).

M. Brunatti confirnmed that when he was at the mine on
January 10, there was no net hane accunul ati on and he i ndi cated
that he conplinented the conpany for the job they did in clearing
away the net hane which pronpted the w thdrawal of mners. He
confirmed the prior nethane accunul ation by review ng the mne
exam ner and foreman books (Tr. 24). He also confirned that he
i ssued no citations or orders on January 10, and that he was at
the mne in his capacity as the resident inspector and was not at
that time a ventilation specialist. He also confirned that he did
not have the appropriate ventilation plan with himon January 10,
and had no know edge of the ventilation system (Tr. 24).
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M. Brunatti stated that after conpletion of his inspection on
January 10, his supervisor was concerned about the nethane
i nci dent and he asked to review his notes. After a discussion
with his supervisor and a review of his notes and the appropriate
ventilation plans, it was determ ned that the conditions he
observed on January 10, with regard to the direction of the air
flow constituted a violation of the plan (Tr. 25).

M. Brunatti identified exhibit GA3 as the ventilation plan
for the DA9 area in question, which was approved by MSHA on June
7, 1985. Exhibit GA3(a) is the August 1, 1984, plan for
ventilating the active section while producing coal, and the
direction of air flow over the gob into the bl eeder entries, and
to the return. Both plan provisions are applicable in this case,
and the June 7, provisions in no way changed the requirenents of
the plan reviewed on August 1 (Tr. 26).

M. Brunatti explained the ventilation plan requirenents for
mai ntai ning the direction of air flow over the cited DA9 area of
the m ne. He confirned that the conditions he observed on January
10, which he noted on exhibit GA2, reflect that the air
ventilating the section was escaping out of the return instead of
putting pressure on the gob area, thus creating, in his opinion
a nmet hane build-up in the back end of the gob area. It was his
view that had all of the available ventilation air been placed on
t he gob, and had proper air pressure been maintained on the gob
t he met hane buil d-up previously experienced woul d not have
occurred. He confirnmed that he issued the citation because the
air flowwas msdirected in violation of the ventilation plan
because in two of the three entries in the area, air was
travelling inby, when in fact the plan depicts the air flow ng
out by.

In support of the violation, M. Brunatti stated that the
ventilation plan provision shown on the second page of exhibit
GA3, at the upper left-hand corner, depicts a double arrow
pointing to the top of the page indicating the direction of air
flow over the gob and exiting at the point marked BE #58, which
is the evaluation point for checking nmethane |iberation and air
flow At that point, the air then travels down the three entries
in the direction of the three double arrows shown on the di agram
and out the return. In contrast to these required air directions,
on January 10, he found that the air was travelling down the
nunber one entry, but in the opposite direction in the adjacent
two entries (Tr. 27A33).
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M. Brunatti confirmed that the section 104(a) citation issued
on January 16, was subsequently nodified to a section 104(d)(2)
order the next day. He confirmed that it was nodified after sonme
di scussion with his supervisor, but that he (Brunatti) made the
decision to nodify the citation to an order. M. Brunatti stated
that his notes for January 16, reflect a conversation with
conpany safety representative DeSal vo and mine foreman R chard
Endl er, during which they stated that they believed that the
direction of air flow as found by M. Brunatti on January 10, was
the way it was depicted on the ventilation plan, but was contrary
to the way the conpany engi neer subnmitted it on the plan. M.
Brunatti stated that m ne nmanagement was ventilating the section
one way, but that the plan submtted by the engi neer indicated
ventilation in a different way. M. Brunatti stated further that
he had the "inpression" that M. DeSalvo and M. Endler were
aware of the fact that the direction of air on January 10, was
different fromthat shown on the submtted plan, but he conceded
that he could not confirmthat they had actual know edge of the
plan requirenents until he later called it to their attention
(Tr. 36).

M. Brunatti confirnmed that the No. 1 Mne is on a section
103(i) 5Aday spot inspection status because it has a history of
nmet hane ignition, and that an expl osion occurred at the mne in
February or January of 1984, resulting in the death of three
m ners. The explosion was the result of an accumul ati on of
nmet hane (Tr. 37).

M. Brunatti confirned that at the tinme he issued the
initial citation on January 16, he marked the citation formto
refl ect "noderate negligence,” and that he did so because "I
wasn't really aware of all that was involved, you know, as far as
the ventilation changes I"'msure” (Tr. 37). He also stated that
he was influenced by the fact that the conpany had withdrawn the
m ners and had done a fine job in correcting the nethane problem
He later realized that m ne nmanagenent shoul d have been aware of
the ventilation plan requirements (Tr. 38).

M. Brunatti stated that the ventilation plan is designed to
prevent mnethane accunul ati ons, and that "what coul d happen here
is a nethane gas explosion.” If the cited condition were |eft
uncorrected, he believed it was highly likely that an expl osion
woul d have occurred because the area was a pillar area where the
roof is constantly falling, and sparks froma roof fall would be
an ignition source to ignite the nethane. He conceded that he had
no know edge of any such ignitions fromroof falls in the mne in
guestion, but was aware of such
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an occurrence in another mne (Tr. 40). M. Brunatti confirned
that he indicated on the citation formthat one mner would be
af fected by a nethane expl osi on because the area where the air
was m sdirected was an outby area which was not in an active

wor ki ng section (Tr. 39). He al so conceded that while the nine
has experienced nunerous roof falls, they are planned falls
connected with pillar recovery and the "majority probably weren't
violations" (Tr. 44). He pointed out, however, that the cited
area was only required to be exam ned once a week, and it was an
area that was "com ng off the gob" (Tr. 45).

M. Brunatti stated that the m ne had experienced probl ens
in ventilating other gob areas, and that this was a contributing
factor to the expl osion which previously occurred. He al so
i ndi cated that had an expl osion occurred in the instant case,
"the whol e working section”™ would have been affected because it
was in close proximty to the cited area (Tr. 46).

On cross-exam nation, M. Brunatti confirnmed that at the
time he inspected the mne on January 10, and issued the citation
on January 16, 1985, he was not a ventilation specialist, and
that the citation was issued as part of a regular mne inspection
(Tr. 48). He stated that he was the resident inspector at the
m ne, and that he was at the m ne during the period from January
10 to January 16, but was not in the DA9 section (Tr. 53). He
confirmed that while at the m ne on January 16, he did not
conduct an inspection of the DA9 section, and sinply issued the
citation on the basis of the information that he had previously
conpi | ed when he was there on January 10 (Tr. 54). The conditions
described in the citation were conditions which existed on
January 10, and not on January 16, and he did not know what the
ventilation conditions were on January 16 (Tr. 56).

M. Brunatti stated that the methane accunul ati on on January
9, 1985, was 4.2 percent, and that he confirmed this information
froma review of the mne books for that day. He confirned that
he conmended ni ne managenment for their reaction to the methane
accunul ation and for the steps taken to protect the mners, and
respondent's counsel confirmed that the mners were voluntarily
wi t hdrawn by m ne nmanagenent, and that nanagenent contacted NMSHA
and the appropriate state agency. Counsel also asserted that at
the tine M. Brunatti was at the mne on January 10, the methane
had been dissipated and the m ne was back in production (Tr. 59).
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M. Brunatti stated that he took nethane readi ngs on the norning
of January 10, and detected no net hane | evels which were in
violation of the regulations. The mne was in conpliance with the
nmet hane requirenents, even though the ventilation air was flow ng
inthe wong direction (Tr. 62). However, M. Brunatti believed
that the prior methane reading of 4.2. recorded in the mne books
on January 9, was caused by the air being coursed in the wong
direction, and that the condition was corrected by nmaki ng sone
adjustnents to the ventilation system (Tr. 63).

M. Brunatti stated that the ideal ventilation for any nine
is to insure the mai ntenance of air pressure on the gob area so
that the majority of air is coursed to the gob. In the instant
case, the mpjority of air was escapi ng outby, and only a nini mal
anmount was coursed to the gob to dilute any met hane whi ch may
have been present. Since nethane concentrations and |iberation
change because of roof falls or other conditions, the ventilation
plan is intended to control these events (Tr. 64). Referring to
exhibit GA2, M. Brunatti explained the desirable and required
met hods for ventilating the right and left entries while they
were partially and fully devel oped (Tr. 66A71).

M. Brunatti confirned that when he was at the mine on
January 10, certain changes had been nmade to the ventilation
system but he still had a problemw th the direction of the air
flow. However, he stated that "at that tine, | wasn't aware that
it was a problent (Tr. 73). He confirmed that during the period
bet ween January 10 through 17, he was not aware of any additiona
met hane build-up in the gob at the back of the DA9 area, even
with the ventilation air flow as he found it (Tr. 73).

M. Brunatti confirnmed that when he issued the citation on
January 16, he marked the "negligence bl ock™ on the form as
"noderate,"” and when he subsequently nodified the citation to a
section 104(d)(2) order on January 17, he did not change his
negligence finding (Tr. 72). He testified that he did not believe
that the conpany was indifferent to the requirenments of the cited
mandat ory standard, but felt that there may have been a
m sconmuni cati on between m ne managenent and the conpany engi neer
with respect to the ventilation plan which had been subm tted,
and with respect to the actual ventilation in the area in
question (Tr. 74).

M. Brunatti stated that he did not believe that the
violation in question resulted fromthe conpany's willful intent
to violate the law, or that it resulted froma serious
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| ack of reasonable care on the part of the conmpany (Tr. 74). He
confirmed that he nodified the citation to an order after

di scussing the matter with his supervisor (M. Baesinger), and he
expl ai ned the reasons for his action as follows (Tr. 75A76):

A. But basically, we discussed the ventilating system
the type of changes that were nmade which caused the air
to flowin the wong direction. And it was determ ned

t hat m ne managenent had to be directly involved in

t hat .

| mean, to say this could have occurred w thout them
knowi ng, or shoul d have know ng, however you want to

say it--well, it just couldn't. You know, the conpany is
responsi bl e--m ne managenent is responsible for
ventilation and installing or renmoving ventilation
controls fromthe ventilating system

M. Brunatti confirmed that the ventilation plan "Review No
26" as depicted on the first page of exhibit GA3, was not
applicable at the tine of the violation, and that plan "Revi ew
No. 25," exhibit GA3(a), is the applicable plan provision in this
case (Tr. 79A80). MSHA's counsel stated that the plan
requi renents as depicted in both exhibits were essentially the
same requirements, and that exhibit GA3 had not nodified exhibit
GA3(a) in any way for the purpose of the DA9 section of the mne
(Tr. 80).

In response to further questions, M. Brunatti stated that
his notes made on January 16, 1985, (exhibit GA4), confirmthat
m ne managenment agreed with his observations that the air was
bei ng coursed in the wong direction, and that there may have
been m sconmuni cati on anong those managenent people who were in
charge of the ventilation system He also stated that it is
reasonable to expect a mne foreman to check to see what the
ventilation should be for a particular mne section and to know
what the plan provides in this regard. He also believed it was
reasonabl e for those who designed the systemto comrunicate with
the foreman concerning the plan provisions (Tr. 82).

M. Brunatti explained the extent to which the cited area in
guesti on had been devel oped when he went to the m ne on January
10, and he expl ained why the air should have been directed in the
manner that he required as follows (Tr. 86):
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CGood ventilation is, you put the majority of your
air or positive pressure on your gob, with just |eaving
alittle bit anpbunt to ventilate that section return to
keep whatever little bit of nethane is being |liberated in
that area off the ribs.

Positive pressure on the gob reduces the nethane and
dilutes it and renders it harmess, taking it into the
bl eeder entries to return to the fan and out of the
m ne, and keeping it bel ow an expl osi on m xture.

M. Brunatti stated that when he went to the mne on January
10, he was there to determ ned whet her the |arge accumnul ati on of
met hane still existed. Wen he determined that it did not, he
stated that "I was done with what | was sent there to do" (Tr.
92). Although he nade a determination as to the direction of the
air used to ventilate the area in question, he did not at that
ti me know whether it was right or wong, but later nmade this
determ nati on a day before he issued the citation on January 16,
after he and his supervisor reviewed the ventilation plan and
determ ned that a violation had occurred on January 10 (Tr. 93;
96A97). When asked to explain the basis for his conclusion that
the msdirected air caused 4.2. nethane accumul ati on on January
9, but did not cause any accumul ati ons on January 10, he replied

in pertinent part as follows (Tr. 94): "I base that on sone of ny
experience in and around the mne, based on other conditions of
that air, the systemventilating that area. * * * | don't feel

that the ventilating systemwas rendering the methane constantly
harn ess. "

M. Brunatti confirmed that even though mners were
withdrawn as the result of the 4.2 nethane accunul ation on
January 9, MSHA did not conduct any investigation to determ ne
the cause for this amount of nethane. In his opinion, the high
nmet hane | evel was caused by inadequate ventil ation, and the
m sdirected air was one contributing factor (Tr. 95). He
confirmed that even though adjustnents were nmade to the
ventilation systemto dissipate the prior 4.2 |level of nethane,
the continued misdirection of air did not result in unusual or
illegal methane accunul ations (Tr. 96).

M. Brunatti stated that while the misdirected air condition
whi ch he found on January 10, was "questionable,” he could not
renenber whet her he di scussed the condition with m ne nanagenent
at that time (Tr. 98). He conceded that had



~1544

hi s supervisor not raised a question concerning the ventilation
it was "very possible" that the citati on woul d not have been
issued (Tr. 97). He reiterated that on January 10, he nade no
determ nation that the direction of the air was in violation of
the ventilation plan (Tr. 98).

M. Brunatti stated that he had no know edge as to how t he
cited condition was abated because anot her MSHA i nspect or
term nated the order (Tr. 112). MSHA's counsel stated that the
order was term nated by MSHA | nspector Carl Sensi bal on January
21, 1985 (exhibit GA1l), and the ternination reads "as determ ned
with a chem cal snoke cloud the air is nowtravelling inits
proper course (outby). Ventilation adjustnents were nade to
assure proper air flow direction through the affected bl eeder
entry in the DA9 butt area" (Tr. 113, exhibit GAl).

Respondent' Testinony and Evi dence

Ri chard Endler, mne foreman, testified as to his duties and
experience, (Tr. 117A121). He stated that he has taken severa
training courses in mne ventilation and that he participates in
the preparation and approval of the conpany's 6Anonth ventilation
pl ans submitted to Federal and state agencies. He confirnmed that
at the tine of the violation, plan "review 25" was in effect, and
that he participated in the preparati on and approval of that plan
(Tr. 122).

Referring to several exhibit overlays which were projected
on a screen in the courtroom M. Endler explained the projected
mning for the DA9 area at the tine of the violation, the
applicable ventilation plan provisions, the projected nethod for
devel oping the entries, the intended direction of air through the
areas in question, and the operation of the ventilation system
(Tr. 125A133; exhibits OA2 through QOA8).

M. Endl er disagreed with Inspector Brunatti's
interpretation of the applicable ventilation plan, and insisted
that the direction of the air on January 10, was exactly the way
the applicable plan "review 25" (exhibit GA3(a)) was subnitted
and approved. That plan shows the air going up both entries in
the conpleted first butt heading that had been driven. M. Endler
expl ai ned that M. Brunatti believed that the arrow depicted in
t he upper left-hand corner of the plan sketch depicted air flow
down through all three entries, but M. Endler could find nothing
in the plan supporting M. Brunatti's interpretation. M. Endler
stated that no changes were nmade in the ventilation depicted in
the plan in question which would have resulted in the air flow ng
down al |
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three entries as interpreted by M. Brunatti. Contrary to M.
Brunatti's interpretation, M. Endler insisted that plan "review
25" and exhibit QA2 depict the air going up two entries and down
the third one, and that this was precisely howit was directed on
January 10, when M. Brunatti tested it. M. Endler believed that
the dispute lies in the fact that M. Brunatti believed the arrow
at the top left-hand corner of "review 25" reflects that the air
should go down all three entries (Tr. 135A137).

M. Endl er explained that in the devel opnment of a section
three entries are driven, and the belt is always the niddle
entry. He explained that air is always going up the mddl e belt
entry, as well as up the right-hand entry, and then down the
left-hand entry. Any changes in the direction of the air flow
could only be made by subnmitting themto MSHA for approval. He
finds nothing in plan "review 25" to indicate any change in the
direction of air down all three entries (Tr. 146A148).

M. Endler confirmed that the order was term nated after
changes in the air flow direction were nmade to conply with M.
Brunatti's requirements, and he identified exhibit OA8 as the
pl an revi sion accepted by MSHA as part of "review 25." He
confirmed that at the time the order was issued, M. Brunatti
believed the direction of air flow should have been as shown in
the plan revision submtted to termnate the order, and had it
been that way, no citation woul d have been issued (Tr. 148A151).

On cross-exam nation, M. Endler stated that exhibit QA2 was
submtted as part of the ventilation plan to depict how the
m ning of the area would be devel oped, and that it does not
basically reflect how a gob area should be ventilated during
retreat mining (Tr. 156A157). He confirmed that "review 25,"
exhi bit GA3(a), reflects how a gob area should be ventilated. He
expl ai ned that air would be directed up and across the gob area
by means of regulators and restricting the area on the return by
use of canvass which forces the air through the holes that are
created. He confirned that at the tinme the violation was observed
by M. Brunatti, retreat mning was taking place in the cited
area in question (Tr. 157A158).

M. Endler stated that the air in the back-end of the DA9
area was being coursed in the direction depicted on "review 25."
He stated that M. Brunatti was concerned about the direction of
air flowin the adjacent panel that had been driven, and that he
did in fact determne that it was being
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coursed up two entries and down the third entry, but believed
that it shoul d have been coursed down all three entries as shown
inthe print subnitted to abate the order, (exhibit QA8; Tr.
160A161) .

In response to additional questions, M. Endler confirmed
that at the tine the citation was issued he and representatives
of the conpany safety departnment discussed the plan provision
found in "review 25" with M. Brunatti, and that there was
di sagreenent between the conpany and M. Brunatti as to the
significance of the arrow shown in the plan. H s testinony in
this regard is as follows (Tr. 165A171):

* * * * * * * *

And | argued with M. Brunatti that that arrow, to ne,
didn't designate that that air was supposed to cone
down all three entries. And he argued back that it
nmeant that it was.

And naturally, they have nore clout than what | have,

so the violation was issued. | lost nmy case on that.
But that arrow, to nme, still does not depict air flow
in the adjacent panel. No matter how many tines | | ook
at it, | can't visualize how that depicts air flow down

the other three entries.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Well, where would the air go, after
it--with all these stoppings in place here, then?

THE WTNESS: The air would go out the single entry on
the far left-hand side.

* * * As far as |I'mconcerned, the air, with the
ventilation that I know that we had in there, the air
woul d travel across these two entries and proceed down
the single entry.

* * * * * * * *

JUDGE KOUTRAS: kay. And where did the inspector say
that that would go?

THE W TNESS: The inspector said that it neant that air
was supposed to go down this entry.
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JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And you're saying, no, it just goes across
the top, because you have air com ng up there?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And he said the air com ng up there was
not in conpliance with your plan?

THE W TNESS: Yes, he did.
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And what did he base that on?

THE W TNESS: Hi s opi ni on.

* * * * * * * *

THE W TNESS: Okay, Once these connections were nmade at
the top, these two crosscuts were put through up at the
top, then you could change the air around. But we did
not have a plan submtted in Review 25 that woul d have
permtted ne to turn that air around in themother two
entries. | had to keep that air going that way.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Again, on the 10th, how was the air
going in the air that he cited?

THE WTNESS: It was going up the two entries.
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: kay. No di spute about that.
THE W TNESS: No.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: And that's the way you intended it to
go?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And that's the way your plan intended it
to go?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And the dispute is that the inspector
says, "You're right, the air's going that way, but
under your plan it should be going in the other
direction?"
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THE W TNESS: That's right.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And you claimthat that was never the
intent?

THE W TNESS: No
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And that that arrow at the top only--

THE WTNESS: That arrow at the top only denotes air
flow fromthe gob as proceedi ng out through these ot her
two crosscuts at the top. It shows a novenent at the
back of the gob to the adjacent entries that we had
driven up. That's all that arrow shows to ne.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: How is the present plan now? You stil
have the arrow at the top?
(Pause.)

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: What's the difference between the arrow
at the top now under this plan and the way it was on
this other one, prior to the citation?

THE W TNESS: These two arrows com ng down the other two
entries. That's the difference. W changed the air
around to bring the air--all of the air that was coni ng
t hrough the gob now cane down these three entries and
ventilated this back here. Prior to that, | had this
air that was comi ng out here going up these two
entries, as per the plan.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: What have you acconpli shed now t hat you
didn't have before, fromyour point of view, in terns
of ventilation?

THE W TNESS: The ventilation is still the sane, as far
as I'mconcerned. | still have the sane anpbunt of air.
| didn't really change any--
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JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Do you feel that the inspector actually

bel i eved that your accunul ation--that your methane probl em

that you had that caused the wi thdrawal of mners was due

to the fact that you weren't ventilating this area in the
manner in which he felt your plan required it to be ventil ated?

THE WTNESS: No, | don't believe that's why it
occurred.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Do you get the inpression that's why he
issued the citation in this case?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir--
JUDGE KQUTRAS: Did he tell you that?

THE W TNESS: No- - maybe, you know. It's possible that
t hat di scussi on cane up.

* * * * * * *

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Wl |, can | ask you sonething? Wen this
thing was submitted, GA3A was submitted, why wasn't it
as explicit as it is--as it was made after it was--

THE WTNESS: |--
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Do you have any idea?

THE WTNESS: No. | nean, it was just drawi ng the
depicted air flow at the back-end of that gob. It
didn't intend to show air flow in the adjacent panel
that was already driven, because we had al ready shown
how t hat was going to be ventilated with the prior
print, that showed the air going up those two entries
and down the outside one. And really, all that is
showing is, the air that's com ng through the gob being
carried away down the other entry, the outside entry.

MR, KOSEK: Your Honor, if | mght--

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Yes?
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MR, KOSEK: --the reason we nmade the subm ssion was so we
woul dn't get any nore violations. | don't know that M.
Endl er woul d necessarily agree with that subm ssion. But
obviously, in order to termnate the violation, that's what
we did.

MSHA' s Rebuttal Testinony

John A. Kuzar, MSHA Hastings, Pennsylvania, Field Ofice
Supervisor, testified as to his experience and background,
including 6 years as a ventilation specialist, and 3 years as a
m ne inspector. He confirned that he was not at the mne in
guesti on when the citation and order was issued, and that he | ast
visited the mine sonetine in 1982 (Tr. 174A176). He al so
confirmed that he has no supervision over the No. 1 M ne, but
does supervise the inspections of the No. 2 Mne (Tr. 178).

M. Kuzar confirnmed that while he famliarized hinself with
plan "review 25" during the 2 days of hearings, he was not
famliar with the plan in 1985 when the citation and order were
issued (Tr. 179). MSHA's counsel conceded that M. Kuzar had no
personal know edge as to what pronpted Inspector Brunatti to
issue the citation (Tr. 181).

Referring to the right-hand portion of the sketch depicting
plan "revision 25," exhibit GA3(a), M. Kuzar described it as
follows (Tr. 182A183):

A. This face print that is in front of ne right now
shows a retreating--first of all, it shows a bl eeder
system est abl i shed around this gob. Okay? It shows--it
says, "BE," but in reality, it's an IE

It's a retreating inlet evaluation point to assure that
you' ve got positive pressure on the inby end of this
gob, which in turn--this is a bl eeder system around the
t op.

You must maintain a bl eeder around the gob area to
assure positive pressure on the gob, and all the gases
are diluted and swept out to the return pull to the
fan. Now, as far as what |'m seeing right here, this

| ooks all right.

But over here, on the other side--
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Ckay, Now, you were pointing originally to the right side.

Yes, ma' am
Now, you're pointing over the left side?

o> O

A. That is correct, which is the table off the diagram
This is where the problemis, | guess, with which way
the air was supposedly goi ng.

* * * * * * *

THE WTNESS: If there was a regul ator there--which | do
not know -and the regulator was controlled, yes, it
woul d shove air up there. But if it was open, what it
woul d be would be a direct short to the return

The problem we're addressing here is the fact of 316
being direction of air flow or what have you, where you
have nore of a problemthat apparently this had
occurred, or the mne wouldn't have been w t hdrawn.

It is 329, in which 329 states that gob areas--bl eeder
entries shall be ventilated in such a manner to prevent
any of this occurring, any of this nethane gas being
pushed back out.

VWhen asked about the hazard presented by ventilating the
cited area in the manner in which it was being ventilated at the
time the citation issued, M. Kuzar responded "I wasn't there.
don't know' (Tr. 188). He then proceeded to explain "You have the
possibility of that nethane com ng back over that equi prent, that
section that was working"” (Tr. 192). In response to further
questions, he stated as follows (Tr. 193A197):

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: What's the significance of that arrow at
the top of the page there that seens to be the foca
poi nt ?

THE W TNESS: Thi s arrow?

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Yes?
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THE WTNESS: This arrow here shows ne everything going to

return through ny bl eeder entries, across the top. It shows ne
goi ng- - because, what I'mgetting at, air doesn't--you don't take
air to buck air. You' re not shoving air up and air com ng down.
It's got to go to return somepl ace

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Ckay.
BY MS. HENRY:

Q M. Kuzar, when you say, "You don't take air to buck
air," what is your understandi ng of what the m ne
managenent has stated that their intention was, in the
way they were ventilating, the way this air was

fl owi ng?

A. The way | understood nmi ne nanagenent, the air was
com ng up those other entries, and I assune that it was
joining with this return com ng across this bl eeder
systemon the inby end. That's what | believe them -what
t hey were saying.

Q And do you believe that, with your know edge and

| ooking at this ventilation plan, with what they were
sayi ng, that that woul d have been an adequate
ventilation of that mne, of this area, the way the nmap
is showing it should be ventil ated?

A. | would have to see it work that way.

* * * * * * * *

Q And what would be the effect of, as managenent has
stated, their pushing the air up the other way? And
realize I'musing sinple terns, but I"'mtrying to get
sort of a layman's understanding here. O instead of
the air going down, the air flowing the way M.
Brunatti found it flow ng?

A. Conditions could change that. It would depend how
much they had available for this section, how nuch air
was on this section where they were m ning.
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There's a lot of things are involved there. What they had
goi ng out this bleeder, quantity-w se; how nuch was goi ng
down the split return. There's a lot of things have a bearing
on this, what could occur

* * * * * * * * *

Q Wiy woul d you consider--let nme ask you this. Wuld
you consi der the testinony you' ve heard today from M.
Brunatti about the condition fromthe m ne managenent
about the condition, and | ooking at the plans yourself,
woul d you consider this to be a significant and
substantial violation?

A. Yes, | would.

Q Wiy?

A Because of what occurred.
Q kay, could you explain?

A. The occurrence prior to the inspector getting there,
you had a nethane build-up in a gob area in that mne
And whether it be--the chances of that nethane being
pushed back over this active section would be very
slim being that the fan is over here.

But a change in a baroneter--various things could govern
on what that methane did. And it's very unlikely that

it would cone back over this active section with the

fan being over here.

Q Let nme make sure |I'm understandi ng what you're
saying. The way the air was flow ng, you' re saying that
the fan placed where it was, it was unlikely that the
met hane woul d | eave woul d di ssipate? Is that what

you' re sayi ng?

A. The way that the ventilation that the inspector
found with the location of the fan--

Q Right?
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A --all right? If they did not have a ventilation control
that was maintained to assure that air going up in there
the way the inspector cited it, you would have a mnet hane
buil d-up in this gob.

Q kay.
A. And apparently, that's what occurred.

Q Do you have any reason in your know edge to believe
that the way that air flow was coursing woul d have
contributed to the nmethane build-up in that area, that
caused the wi thdrawal ?

A. No, because | don't know the condition of the
entries, the other entry that would be on the far side
that woul d be carrying this methane out of there and
diluting it. I don't know the condition of the airways.
There's a |l ot of other things cone into play.

* * * * * * * * *

JUDGE KQUTRAS: The question is, whether or not the air
being coursed in the way that M. Brunatti thought it
was coursed at the tinme of the violation, whether that
had any direct nexus or relationship to the nethane
accunul ation. That's the question. You don't know that?

THE WTNESS: | could have--1 don't know.
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: It coul d have--
THE WTNESS: | wasn't there, but it could have

The parties agreed that the prior 4.2 nmethane accunul ati on
occurred in the DA9 standing room regul ator area depicted on
exhi bit GA3(a), in the upper right-hand corner of the sketch
where the statement "Regul ator may consi st of bl ocks renoved from
wal | s as necessary" appears (Tr. 198A199). \Wen asked whet her he
found sonme connection with the way in which the air was being
directed at the tine of the violation, and whether this condition
had any relationship to the nethane
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accunul ati on, M. Kuzar responded "No," "Not outby, | don't, in
here, yes" (Tr. 199).

M. Kuzar stated that the nmethod used to ventilate the area,
as explained by M. Endler, up two entries, and then bei ng nel ded
with the air coming out at the top of the area shown on exhibit
GA3(a), and then down and out of the return, was a wong way to
course the ventilating air because all of the air pressure should
be put on the gob, rather than out the return (Tr. 200). Good
ventilation practice calls for keeping the magjority of the air
pressure on the gob to assure that gases go out the bl eeder
systemto the return, with a limted amount down the return that
has to be travelled weekly (Tr. 201A202).

On cross-exam nation, M. Kuzar confirnmed that he first
revi ewed exhibit GA3(a), on Monday prior to the hearing, and was
not previously famliar with plan "review 25" when the violation
was issued (Tr. 203). He also confirmed that he had no know edge
as to how the prior 4.2 nmethane accunul ati on got there (Tr.
203A204). Wen asked if he knew whether the arrow that is shown
at the top of the plan in question is still in the current
appl i cabl e plan, he responded "I do not know what's in there at
the present tine. But if this is the bleeder system it better be
there" (Tr. 204).

I nspector Brunatti was recalled in rebuttal and referring to
his notes made on the mine map, exhibit GA2, testified as to
certain air readings that he took in the area on January 10. In
hi s opi nion, based on his air readings, the air that day was
coursing through several check curtains and by-passing the gob
area. He neasured air quantities of 16,948 and 10,505 CFM s at
two | ocations, and 5,000 CFM was ventilating the gob area. In his
opi nion, 5,000 CFM for gob ventilation is not positive pressure
on the gob. The installation of permanent stoppings rather than
ventilation curtains, and the adjustnent of the regulator to
control the air flow, would have put pressure on the gob. Had the
gob area been adequately ventilated, the air in the DA9 right
butt section would have been coursing down all three entries (Tr.
206A210). He also referred to two additional air readings of
1,250 and 725 CFM's, which indicated that positive pressure was
not mai ntained on the gob (Tr. 212).

In response to further questions, M. Brunatti stated that
in his opinion there was no positive air flow on the gob on
January 10, and that this condition constituted a violation of
the law. He confirned that he did not issue a violation for this
condition that day because he detected no
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nmet hane over 2 percent. He also confirned that the air readings
he took that day were in conpliance (Tr. 216), and that there was
a positive air flow com ng out of the regulator which is shown on
the right-hand portion of the sketch containing his notes,

exhibit GA2 (Tr. 219).

Respondent' s Rebuttal Testinony

Ri chard Endl er produced copies of several mne exam ner and
foreman reports reflecting recorded air readings for the DA9
i ntake and return on January 2, 9, and 10, 1985, indicating
29, 880, 6,762, 10,080, 5,875, 26,460, 7,104, and 2,881 CFM s at
the |l ocations noted. M. Endler concluded that there was
"roughly" 13,000 CFM s of air available to ventilate the gob, and
whil e he could not state that all of this air was goi ng through
the gob, it was available for that purpose (Tr. 221A223, exhibits
QA9 through QA11). He confirmed that the ventilation pattern for
the area was the sane on January 2 and 9 (Tr. 224). He stated
that the gob was being positively ventilated (Tr. 227).

M. Endl er explained the action taken by the conpany in
response to the 4.2 nethane accumul ati on which was reported on
January 9. He stated that checks were installed at the back end
area to direct the air comng up the two entries around to flush
out the nethane. The net hane | evel then decreased to 1.2 percent,
and it was then determned that it was safe for the nmen to go
back to work (Tr. 224A225; 230A234). After the methane was
flushed out, the checks "were taken down and put it back to the
original way. And the nethane did stay down" (Tr. 247). M.
Endl er stated that the amount of air necessary to dilute any
nmet hane in the gob varies, and that it did so during the week
prior to the violation (Tr. 247).

M. Endler identified exhibit GA5, as a plan submitted by
the conpany for the pillar mning of roons off the left of the
DA9 area, and that it does not reflect mining on the right-hand
side at that point intine. In his view, that plan has nothing to
do with this case (Tr. 226).

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons

The condition or practice cited by Inspector Brunatti as an
al l eged violation of 30 C.F.R [316, and the respondent’'s
approved ventilation plan, is described as follows in section
104(a) "S & S" G tation No. 2255733, issued on January 16, 1985
(exhibit GA1):
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The approved ventilation and nmethane and dust-control
pl an was not being conplied with in the DA9 area of the
mne in that two of the three entries (bleeder) in the 1st
Rt Butt area were letting air go inby. The plan depicts only
air comng outby fromthis area. Wth the ventilation this
way the air ventilating DA9 section was escapi ng out the
return instead of putting all the pressure on the gob area
thus creating a nethane build-up in the back end of the gob

I nspector Brunatti nodified the citation on January 17,
1985, by a "subsequent action"” which nodified the citation to
reflect that it was changed to a section 104(d)(2) Order No.
2255733A01. The nodification also included references to a
previously issued Order No. 2110076, March 10, 1984, which are
i ncorporated by reference in items No. 14, No. 15, and No. 16 on
the citation/order form

30 C.F.R [O75.316, provides as foll ows:

A ventilation system and net hane and dust control plan
and revisions thereof suitable to the conditions and
the m ning systemof the coal nine and approved by the
Secretary shall be adopted by the operator and set out
in printed formon or before June 28, 1970. The plan
shall show the type and | ocati on of mechanica
ventil ation equi prent installed and operated in the
m ne, such additional or inproved equi pnent as the
Secretary may require, the quantity and velocity of air
reachi ng each working face, and such other information
as the Secretary may require. Such plan shall be
reviewed by the operator and the Secretary at | east
every 6 nonths.

The testi nony and evi dence adduced in these proceedi ngs
establ i shes that on January 9, 1985, a nethane accunul ati on of
approxi mately 4.2 percent occurred in the DA9 section of the
m ne. Greenwich notified MSHA and the appropriate state agency of
the accunul ation, and withdrew the nmen fromthe mne. After
corrective nmeasures were taken and the net hane cleared up, the
mners were permtted to go back to work.

As a result of the reported nmethane accumnul ati on, |nspector
Brunatti was contacted at his home by his supervisor and was
instructed to go to the mne to exam ne the affected area.
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M. Brunatti went to the mine on the mdnight shift of January
10, 1985. The miners had been w thdrawn, no unusual nethane
accunul ati ons were detected, and M. Brunatti conplinmented nine
managenent for their efforts in clearing up the nmethane probl em
M. Brunatti confirmed the prior nethane accumnul ati on by
review ng the mne exam ner's books. He al so nmade sone notations
concerning the direction of air flow, air velocity, and nethane
present in the DA9 section, and the notations were made on an
enl arged portion of the mine map (exhibit GA2). M. Brunatti
confirmed that he determ ned the direction of the air flow by
means of a snoke test and by visual observation. He determ ned
that the air was flowing up two of the entries, and down the
third entry as shown by the arrows on exhibit GA2.

After conpleting his examination of the DA9 section on
January 10, 1985, M. Brunatti issued no citations and made no
determ nation as to whether any violations existed at that tine.
He confirmed that he did not have the appropriate ventilation
plan with him and also confirmed that he did not at that tine
have any know edge of the mine ventilation system He testified
that he was directed to go to the mne to determ ne whether any
| arge accunul ati ons of nethane still existed, and that is what he
di d.

Wth regard to his notations concerning the direction of air
flow on the three entries in question, M. Brunatti testified
that he had "a problem with the air direction and considered it
"questionable,” but nade no determ nation on January 10, that it
was a violation of the ventilation plan. He could not recal
di scussing the matter with m ne managenent, and confirned that he
did not know whether the noted air direction "was right or wong"
at that tine.

During the period January 11 and 16, 1985, M. Brunatti was
at the mne performng his regular inspection duties, but he was
not in the DA9 section. He issued the contested citation while at
the m ne on January 16, and he based the citation on the
notati ons he made with respect to the flow of air on January 10,
and his belief that the prior reported nmethane accunul ati on
resulted fromthe msdirected air flow He confirnmed that on
January 16, he did not visit the DA9 section and did not know
what the ventilation was that day. He also confirned that he nade
a finding of "noderate negligence,"” and so indicated by nmarking
the appropriate block on the citation form He expl ained that he
made this finding out of consideration of mne managenent's fine
job in correcting the methane problem and because he was not
totally aware of any ventilation changes.
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M. Brunatti confirned that the decision to issue the citation on

January 16, was nmade after a consultation with his supervisor.

H s supervisor was concerned about the reported methane

accunul ation and asked to review his notes. During these

di scussions, M. Brunatti indicated concern that changes were
made in the ventilation systemto cause the air to flowin the
wrong direction, and he believed that m ne managenent had to be

i nvol ved in any such changes. After further discussion and review
of the ventilation plans with his supervisor, it was concl uded
that the msdirected air as noted by M. Brunatti during his nne
visit of January 9, constituted a violation of the ventilation

pl an and section 75.318.

On January 17, 1985, Inspector Brunatti nodified the section
104(a) citation to a section 104(d)(2) unwarrantable failure
order, but he did not change or nodify his noderate negligence
finding. The nodification was made after further discussions with
his supervisor, and M. Brunatti admitted that the decision to
nodify the citation and i ssue the order was nade prior to his
going to the m ne on January 17.

I nspector Brunatti testified that he did not consider the
action of Geenwich with respect to the violation to be wllful,
nor did he consider it to be the result of indifference or a
serious |ack of reasonable care on the part of Geenwich (Tr.
73A74) .

In its posthearing brief, Geenw ch argues that the
contested section 104(d)(2) order is invalid because it was based
on an investigation of a past nethane accumrul ation incident
rather than a condition or practice detected by |nspector
Brunatti during the course of an inspection. In support of its
argunent, Geenwich cites the followi ng cases in which six
Conmi ssi on Judges deci ded the issue as argued by G eenw ch:

West nor el and Coal Conpany, Docket Nos. WEVA 82A34AR, et. al.,
(May 4, 1983), unreported, (Judge Steffey); Energy M ning
Corporation, 7 FMSHRC 1908, 1919 (Nov. 1985) (Judge Lasher);

Sout hwestern Portl and Cenment Conpany, 7 FMSHRC 2283, 2292 (Dec.
1985) (Judge Morris); Nacco M ning Conpany, 8 FNMSHRC 59 (1986),
revi ew pendi ng (Chief Judge Merlin); Emerald M nes Corporation, 8
FMSHRC 324 (1986), review pending (Judge Melick; Wite County
Coal Corporation, 8 FMSHRC 921 (June 9, 1986) (Judge Melick; and
Greenwich Collieries, 8 FMSHRC 1105 (July 14, 1986) (Judge

Maur er) .

G eenwi ch points out that the inspector was dispatched to
the mne to | ook into a nethane accumul ation in the DA9
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area of the mine which occurred on January 9, and which was
reported by Greenwich. Upon his arrival at the m ne on January
10, the inspector visited the DA9 area, but issued no violations.
Subsequently, on January 16, when he issued the section 104(a)
citation, the inspector did not reenter the DA9 section before
witing the citation. Still later, on January 17, the inspector
nodified the citation to a section 104(d)(2) order, and he did so
on the basis of a conversation with his supervisor w thout
reentering the DA9 section. The decision to issue that order was
made prior to the inspector's arrival at the mne on January 17.

Greenwi ch points out further that the nethane accumnul ation
whi ch occurred on January 9, 1985, was never observed or detected
by I nspector Brunatti, and that it was di ssipated on January 10,
when he entered the DA9 section. G eenw ch concludes that since
no nethane accunul ation was in existence at the tinme the initial
section 104(a) citation and the subsequent nodification to a
section 104(d)(2) order took place, the order was invalid and
shoul d be di sm ssed.

Citing United States Steel Corporation, 6 FMSHRC 1423 at
1437 (June 1984), where the Commi ssion held that an unwarrantable
failure to conply may be established by showi ng that the
violative condition or practice was not corrected or renedied,
prior to the issuance of a citation or order, because of
indifference, willful intent, or serious |ack of reasonable care,
G eenwi ch asserts that there is no evidence in this case to
support an unwarrantable failure finding. In support of this
concl usion, Greenwi ch relies on Inspector Brunatti's findings of
"noder at e negligence"” with respect to the citation and order, and
his testinmony that he did not consider the alleged violation to
be due to "indifference, willful intent, or a serious |ack of
reasonabl e care” on the part of G eenw ch.

Wth regard to the alleged violation of section 75. 316,
Greenwi ch submits that MSHA has failed to establish by any
credi bl e evidence that G eenwich violated its ventilation plan
Greenwi ch asserts that the testinmony of foreman Endler clearly
indicated that the ventilation was in conpliance with plan review
No. 25 which was in effect at the tinme of the citation. G eenw ch
points out that M. Endler, using various exhibits, clearly
denonstrated that government Exhibit 3AA was the sane as
operator's Exhibit 4. He indicated that operator's Exhibit 4
showed main intake air comng up the right-hand entry, reduced
air flow comng up the belt entry, and return air goi ng down the
| eft-hand entry shown in Exhibit 4. He further testified that the
ventil ation denonstrated in that exhibit was the sanme ventilation
as cited by Inspector
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Brunatti as not being in conpliance with the ventilation plan.
The citation, later nodified to an Order, was ultimately

term nated when G eenwi ch submtted a print to MSHA whi ch showed
ventilation going in the direction required in the citation and
order of January 16 and 17, respectively. Geenwich submts that
no such subm ssion to MSHA woul d have been necessary had the
original plan required ventilation in the DA9 area as interpreted
by I nspector Brunatti. Hence, Geenwi ch submts that MSHA failed
to show a violation of the ventilation plan.

Wth regard to M. Brunatti's allegations that the air
ventilating the DA9 section was escaping out the return instead
of putting all the pressure on the gob area, thus creating a
nmet hane buil d-up at the back end of the gob, G eenw ch asserts
that the testinony by foreman Endler clearly reveal ed there was a
positive flow of air on the gob in the DA9 area. Greenw ch points
out that M. Endler's testinony was based upon air readi ngs taken
in the area on January 2 and 9, and his personal observations of
the area on January 9, which indicated a positive flow of air on
the gob in the DA9 area. Greenw ch concludes that MSHA has failed
to prove that all available air positive pressure was not put on
t he gob, thereby creating a nmethane build-up in the back end of
t he gob.

In her closing oral argunents, MSHA's counsel relied on the
testimony of Inspector Brunatti and Supervisory |nspector Kuzar
to support a violation of the ventilation plan. Wth regard to
M. Kuzar's testinmony, | have given it little or no weight. M.
Kuzar confirnmed that he has no supervision over the No. 1 M ne,
was not in it when the citation was issued, and that he [ ast
visited it in 1982. His testinony in support of the violation is
based on his famliarizing hinmself with plan review No. 25 during
t he hearing, and MSHA conceded that he had no personal know edge
as to what pronpted Inspector Brunatti to issue the citation
VWhen asked about any hazard involved in ventilating the area
cited by the inspector in the manner in which he clainmed it was
being ventil ated when the citation i ssued, M. Kuzar responded "I
wasn't there. | don't know "

VWen asked about the manner in which Geenwich clains it was
ventilating the area in question, M. Kuzar stated that he would
have to observe it operating before he could comment on it. Wen
asked about the effectiveness of the air flowing in the direction
that M. Brunatti clained it was flow ng, on January 9, M. Kuzar
responded that "conditions could change that" and that ot her
vari abl es have to be considered. Wien asked whet her he had any
reason to believe that the air flow
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as found by Inspector Brunatti could have contributed to the
reported methane build-up in the DA9 area, M. Kuzar responded
"No, because | don't know the condition of the entries * * *
and airways, * * * and there's a |lot of other things that cone
into play."” When directly asked whether the air flow as found by
I nspector Brunatti had any direct relationship to the nmethane
accunul ation, M. Kuzar replied "I don't know. | wasn't there,
but it could have."

MSHA' s counsel agreed that review 25 is the applicable plan
in effect at the tine the citation was issued. However, counse
took the position that exhibit GA3, which is "review 26," while
not the official plan that was in effect at the time in question
"makes it a little bit clearer,” and that the three arrows in the
upper |left-hand corner of page two of "review 26" basically
describe the direction of air coming down all three entries (Tr.
141A142). Counsel asserted that there is no dispute that the air
was flowing in the direction claimed by M. Brunatti, and that
the disagreenment lies in the fact that the conpany believes that
the direction of the air was in conpliance with the applicable
pl an, and that MSHA believes that the direction of the air was
out of conpliance (Tr. 142). Counsel agreed with M. Brunatti's
interpretation that the direction of air should have been down
all three entries, rather than up two and down the third (Tr.
145, 152).

VWhen asked why the single arrow shown at the top | eft-hand
corner of "review 25," exhibit GA3(a), does not curve around and
conme down the entry, MSHA's counsel responded "it is MSHA' s
position that this is the only way, if the air is going that way,
the only way you can ventilate the mine * * * s to get the air
out again, is to go back down--" (Tr. 154). Counsel asserted that
the air shoul d have gone down all three entries as shown in the
plan print submitted to abate the order, exhibit OA8 (Tr. 162).

| take note of the fact that the citation issued by
I nspector Brunatti fails to include any reference to the
particul ar ventilation plan provisions allegedly violated in this
case. | also note the fact that while in the DA9 section on
January 10, the inspector did not have the ventilation plan with
him and he admitted that he was not at that tine a ventilation
speci ali st and had no know edge of the mine ventilation system
H s subsequent opinion that the plan had been viol ated was based
on a review of the ventilation plans and his notations nmade on a
portion of the mine map (exhibit GA2) while he was on the section
on January 10.
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I nspector Brunatti's conclusion that the ventilation plan was
vi ol ated was based on his findings made on January 10, that the
air flowwas msdirected in two of the three entries on the DA9
section as noted on the face of his citation. He found that in
two of the entries the air was travelling inby, when the
ventilation plan depicted the air flowing outby in all three
entries. M. Brunatti also relied on his notes nmade on January
16, which reflected that G eenwich's safety representative and
m ne foreman Endler stated that the direction of air flow as he
found it on January 10, was the way it was depicted on the
ventilation plan, but contrary to the way G eenw ch's engi neer
submtted it for approval.

M. Brunatti testified that the applicable ventilation plan
provi si on appears on the second page of exhibit GA3, at the upper
| eft-hand corner. The plan depicts three double arrows show ng
the air travelling down all three of the entries after exiting at
the point |abeled BE# 58, and out the return. These are the sane
entries noted by the inspector when he nmade his notations on the
mne map (exhibit GA2), on January 10, showing the air travelling
up two entries but down the third one. The plan is |abel ed
"Review No. 26," and it reflects that it was submtted on
February 15, 1985, and revised on May 31, 1985, after the
citation was issued.

M. Brunatti also testified that ventilation plan Review 25
dated August 1, 1984 (exhibit GA3(a)), is equally applicable in
this case and that it in no way changed the requirenments depicted
in plan Review No. 26. However, he conceded that plan Review No
26 was not in effect at the tine the citation issued, but that
pl an Review No. 25 was (Tr. 79A80, 87). MSHA' s counsel asserted
that Plan No. 26 was introduced to clarify Plan No. 25 and that
it was a "nore hel pful drawi ng of what was indicated in
Gover nment Exhibit GA3(a), and that no changes were made in the
plans (Tr. 116A117).

G eenwi ch's counsel asserted that the critical issue in this
case focuses on the interpretation placed by Inspector Brunatti
on the significance of the doubl e-headed arrow depicted at the
upper |l eft-hand corner of ventilation plan Review 25, exhibit
GA3(a), the ventilation plan which was in effect at the time the
citation was issued on January 16. Counsel argued that review 25
and exhibit OA2, which is part of a print submitted at the time
review 25 was submitted, consistently show the direction of air
flow going up two entries and down the third entry. Counse
argued that these exhibits show the direction of intake air
comng in the
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right-hand entry, reduced air comng up the lowlow belt entry,
and return air comng out the left-hand entry (Tr. 124, 139).

After careful review of all of the testinony and evi dence
adduced in these proceedi ngs, | cannot conclude that MSHA has
carried its burden of proof in establishing a violation of the
ventilation plan by a preponderance of the credible evidence in
support of its case. The ventilation plan provision relied on by
the inspector in support of his initial citation (review No. 26),
was not in effect at the tinme it issued, and the fact that
Greenwi ch' s engi neering departnent may have submitted a
subsequent revision depicting the direction of air down all three
entries is irrelevant. Any suggestion by MSHA that the applicable
pl an No. 25, which was in effect at the tinme the citation issued,
must be interpreted to show the direction of air down the three
entries, as clearly shown in review No. 26, is rejected.

| further find that Geenwich's testi nobny and evidence is
nore credible, and that it has established that it was foll ow ng
the applicable ventilation plan requirenments of ventilation
review plan No. 25, August 1, 1984, as depicted in exhibits
GA3(a) and OA2. Those exhibits clearly and consistently show the
air flowgoing up two entries and down the third, precisely as
found by the inspector when he nmade his notes on January 10,
while on the DA9 section

Wth regard to MSHA's al l egations that G eenwich's failure
to maintain positive air pressure on the gob contributed to the
met hane buil d-up at the back of the gob, Inspector Brunatti
testified that when he tested the air in the DA9 area on January
10, he found quantities of 16,948 and 10,505 CFM s at two
| ocations, and 5,000 CFM s ventilating the gob area. In his
opi nion, 5,000 CFMs is not positive pressure on the gob.
However, M. Brunatti confirmed that he issued no citation on
January 10, for lack of positive air pressure on the gob even
t hough he considered this condition to be a violation of the | aw
He expl ained that he issued no violation because he detected no
nmet hane over 2 percent. He also testified that the air readings
he took on January 10, were in conpliance and that there was in
fact a positive air flow com ng out of the regul ator

M ne foreman Endl er produced copies of several m ne exam ner
and foreman reports reflecting recorded air readings for the DA9
i ntake and return on January 2, 9, and 10, 1985, indicating
29, 880, 6,762, 10,080, 5,875, 26,460, 7,104, and 2,881 CFM s at
the | ocations noted. M. Endler concluded
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that there was "roughly" 13,000 CFM s of air available to
ventilate the gob, and while he could not state that all of this
air was going through the gob, it was available for that purpose.
He confirmed that the ventilation pattern for the area was the
same on January 2 and 9, and that the gob was being positively
ventilated. He also confirnmed that the accunul ated nmet hane in
guestion was flushed out after two checks were installed at the
back end of the gob and then taken down after the nethane was
reduced to 1.2 percent. Inspector Brunatti agreed that as |ong as
the majority of air is coursed to the gob, the ventilation is

i deal

| cannot conclude that MSHA has established that G eenw ch
failed to maintain positive pressure on the gob, thereby
resulting in the build-up of nmethane. Aside fromlInspector's
Brunatti's opinion that this was the case, | can find no credible
facts to support his specul ative opinion. In fact, M. Brunatti
admtted that he issued no citation for these alleged conditions,
was unaware of any nethane build-up at the back end of the gob
from January 10A17, found |l ess than 2 percent methane on January
10, while on the DA9 section, all of his air readings were within
MSHA' s requirenments, and he found positive air flow com ng
through the regulator. In addition, he conducted no inspection of
the DA9 section subsequent to his visit there on January 10, when
he made sone notes on a portion of the mne nmap, and he admtted
that he had no know edge of the ventilation conditions on January
16.

Wth regard to Greenwi ch's argunents concerning the
nodi fication of the contested citation to an unwarrantable
failure order, | agree with the rationale of the cases cited in
support of the proposition that a section 104(d)(2) order may
only issue upon an inspection of the mne. However, on the facts
of this case, even if I were to find a violation of section
75.316, | would vacate the inspector’'s unwarrantable findings and
nodi fy the order to a section 104(a) citation, and I would do so
on the basis of a total lack of credible evidence or facts to
support any unwarrantable failure on G eenwich's part. As noted
earlier, Inspector Brunatti candidly admtted that he did not
consi der Greenwich's actions to be willful, or the result of
i ndifference or a serious |ack of reasonable care.

ORDER
In view of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons,

Greenwi ch's contest |I'S GRANTED, and the contested section
104(d)(2) Order No. 2255733A01, Janury 17, 1986, citing an
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all eged violation of 30 CF.R [75.316, IS VACATED, and MSHA' s
civil penalty proposal 1S DI SM SSED.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



